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OPINION

An amended information charged appellant Angelo Sherman with 22 offenses arising out of his alleged sexual assaults on five different victims over a six-year period; many of the counts included special allegations under the "One Strike" law. (Pen. Code, § 667.61.) 1 The jury returned guilty verdicts on 18 of the counts and returned true findings on the special allegations; it also found him guilty of lesser-included offenses on four other counts. 2 The court sentenced Sherman to a total term of 125 years to life. Sherman challenges the judgment of conviction and the sentence on numerous grounds.

1   All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

 [*2] 

2   The information also specially alleged a prior conviction under the "Three Strikes" law ( §§ 667, subds. (b)-(i), 1170.12, subds. (a)-(d)), and the court in a bifurcated proceeding found true the prior conviction allegation.

II

FACTS 

A. Crimes Against Carolyn K. (Counts 1 and 2) 

The jury convicted Sherman of forcible rape ( § 261, subd. (a)(2)) and rape by use of drugs ( § 261, subd. (a)(3)) based on his 1993 assault on Carolyn K. Carolyn met Sherman in October 1993. She accepted his invitation to accompany him to a Halloween party at which 20 to 30 people supposedly would be present. Sherman drove her to his friends' house, but there were only three or four others present when they arrived. Carolyn declined Sherman's offer of a drink, but later accepted a soda from the hostess. After Carolyn finished the soda, the hostess offered Carolyn a mixed drink. Carolyn accepted the offer, and Sherman and the hostess prepared the drink for Carolyn. The hostess then brought the drink to Carolyn.

After consuming half of the drink, Carolyn began to feel light-headed, her vision became [*3]  blurry, and she was unable to stand. Carolyn asked Sherman to take her home, and he agreed. They left the party accompanied by Sherman's roommate and the roommate's girlfriend. Sherman drove first to his apartment to drop off the other two. He asked Carolyn to come upstairs while he determined if the girlfriend, who was drunk, needed a ride home. At first, Carolyn declined the invitation to go upstairs and instead waited in the car. However, Sherman returned and convinced Carolyn to wait upstairs in his apartment. Carolyn sat on the couch while Sherman went to a bedroom. When Sherman emerged, he sat on the couch next to Carolyn. She repeatedly asked to be taken home because she felt ill, but Sherman kept telling her to be patient. When she finally reached for the telephone to call someone to come pick her up, Sherman blocked her, put his arm around her, and tried to kiss her. She stated she was not interested and pushed him away, but when she tried to stand up Sherman became angry and pushed her back onto the couch. She was crying and screamed "no," but Sherman covered her mouth with his hand and told her, "Relax. You know why you're here" and, "You know this is what you want." He [*4]  then unzipped his pants, pulled down her pants and underwear while holding her down, and had intercourse with her.

Carolyn finally succeeded in pushing Sherman off and ran outside. Sherman followed her and she asked to be taken home. Sherman drove her home and, as she left the car, he gave her a "crazy look" and said, "Until next time." The following day, Carolyn told her boyfriend what had happened and, at his insistence, Carolyn called Sherman and told Sherman never to contact her again.

B. Crimes Against Nancy O. (Counts 3 Through 7) 

The jury convicted Sherman of four counts of sexual battery ( § 243.4) 3 and one count of kidnapping for sexual purposes ( § 207/208, subd. (d), count 3) arising out of his 1994 assault on Nancy O. Nancy met Sherman in the summer or early fall of 1994 at a bar. Sherman approached her and began talking to her about the football game on the television in the bar. When she finished a beer she had been drinking, Sherman offered to buy her another, but she declined. He later renewed his offer and she accepted. She then went to the restroom and, when she returned, Sherman gave her a beer and a shot that he had obtained for her while she had been [*5]  in the restroom. Nancy drank the shot and half of the beer while she continued conversing with Sherman.

3   The information charged Sherman with forcible rape ( § 261, subd. (a)(2), count 4), rape by use of drugs ( § 261, subd. (a)(3), count 5), rape of an unconscious person ( § 261, subd. (a)(4), count 6), and rape by foreign object of an unconscious person ( § 289, subd. (d), count 7). The jury acquitted him of these counts but found him guilty of sexual batteries as "lesser included offenses" (but see In re Alberto S. (1991) 226 Cal. App. 3d 1459, 1463-1464, 277 Cal. Rptr. 475) to these four counts.

About 20 minutes after consuming the drinks, Nancy began to feel flushed, light-headed and nauseous. She went to the restroom and vomited. When she returned she told Sherman she needed to go home. He offered to take her home; she accepted because she did not feel she was physically able to drive. When they left the bar Nancy could not walk unassisted and Sherman helped her to his car. She passed [*6]  out in the car. Some time later, she opened her eyes and found herself on a sofa. Her bra was unfastened and her tank top was pushed up. She walked down the hall to a bathroom where she again vomited.

When she left the bathroom she saw Sherman lying unresponsive on a bed. There was a set of car keys on a desk and Nancy picked them up, left the apartment, and found Sherman's car. As she started his car, a man (who identified himself as Sherman's roommate) tapped on the window of the car and asked what she was doing. She told him she felt ill and needed to get something to drink. The roommate then allowed her to leave. She turned into an alley but became nauseous and stopped the car because she felt she could no longer drive.

She left the car and walked to a pay telephone at a nearby 7-Eleven. As she was trying to decide whom to call, Sherman yelled to her from the balcony of the apartment and told her to stay there while he came down and got his car. When Sherman arrived at the 7-Eleven, he agreed to drive her to her car. She got into the car with Sherman and again passed out. When she awoke, she was in the driver's seat of her own car; someone had lowered the driver's seat to its [*7]  full reclining position. She was wearing her shorts and tank top, but her shoes, socks, bra and underwear were on the floor of the passenger side of the car. When she returned to her apartment, she found a clear sticky substance on her vagina and in her pubic hair.

C. Crimes Against Kristina H. (Counts 8 Through 10) 

The jury convicted Sherman of forcible rape ( § 261, subd. (a)(2), count 8), rape by use of drugs ( § 261, subd. (a)(3), count 9), and rape of an unconscious person ( § 261, subd. (a)(4), count 10) arising out of his 1995 assault on Kristina H. Sherman contacted her in January 1995, claiming they had met on a previous occasion and asking her for a date. After some discussion, she agreed to shoot pool with Sherman. He picked her up and drove to a bar with pool tables. At the bar, Sherman brought Kristina a Coke. After drinking the Coke, Kristina felt "high." Sherman thereafter bought two beers and two shots for Kristina. They left the first bar at around 10:30 p.m. and went to a restaurant, where he bought her several more drinks. After consuming these drinks, Kristina felt she "had a good buzz going on."

They drove to another bar and stayed until "last call";  [*8]  while at this bar, Kristina drank two more shots and a beer Sherman bought for her. They then left and went to a drive-through taco shop to get something to eat; by this time, Kristina was drunk. Sherman then took her to his apartment. She tried to eat the food they had purchased but felt ill and went into the bathroom. At her request, Sherman brought her a glass of water. She sat in the bathroom and everything felt like it was spinning. She asked to go home and Sherman tried to help her up.

The next thing Kristina recalled was lying next to Sherman on his bed with his arm draped across her. Her body suit was pulled up to her chest, her jeans were pushed down to her knees, and her underwear was pulled to the side exposing her vagina. She felt sick and wanted to go to the bathroom. She elbowed Sherman and, as he pulled away, she felt his penis being withdrawn from her vagina.

Kristina got up, dressed, and called her roommate. Her roommate asked if she had been raped; Kristina responded "yes." Kristina asked for a ride but did not know where she was so she gave the phone to Sherman, who provided Kristina's roommate with directions to his apartment. Kristina waited outside until her [*9]  roommate picked her up. They went to a hospital where a Sexual Assault Response Team (SART) nurse examined Kristina. Kristina told the nurse about meeting Sherman, passing out in his apartment, and awakening to find his penis inside her. The nurse took hair samples and swabs; the examination did not reveal any injuries to her external genital area or inside her vagina.

D. Crimes Against Tina S. (Counts 11 Through 13) 

The jury convicted Sherman of forcible rape ( § 261, subd. (a)(2), count 11), rape by use of drugs ( § 261, subd. (a)(3), count 12), and rape of an unconscious person ( § 261, subd. (a)(4), count 13) arising out of his 1999 assault on Tina S. He initially met Tina in August 1999 outside a hotel in Mission Valley. He obtained her telephone number and called her to arrange a date. She agreed and gave Sherman directions to her apartment.

Sherman picked Tina up and they went to the train museum at Balboa Park. He tried to hug and kiss her at the museum but she told him she was not comfortable hugging and kissing him. When they left Balboa Park, they went to wash his car at a car wash. While he was washing his car, Tina pointed out a white pill in the back seat of [*10]  the car and Sherman picked it up.

When they finished washing Sherman's car, they went to a store to buy liquor to have drinks at the pool of his apartment complex. Sherman prepared a drink for Tina, and she drank half of it before going to use the bathroom. When she returned she found he had refreshed her drink. They stayed at the pool until dusk, and then left the pool to go to Sherman's apartment. By this point, Tina was beginning to feel "kind of funny." Sherman prepared her another drink, and she drank half to three-quarters of the drink before again excusing herself to use the bathroom. When she returned her drink was refilled, and Sherman said he wanted to give her a back massage. She replied that she should leave soon, and he said, "Don't be a grandma. Let's have some fun."

The next thing Tina recalled was falling on Sherman's bed and Sherman massaging her back. She was having difficulty keeping her eyes open. The next thing she recalled was that her blouse was up, her bra unfastened, and Sherman pouring oil on her back. The next thing she could remember was being on her back; her shorts and underwear were missing. Sherman had his underwear on and she knew he was about to [*11]  have intercourse with her but she could not stay awake. When she next regained consciousness, she felt Sherman's penis in her vagina. She tried to sit up but Sherman had her arms pinned. She lost consciousness again and when she awoke Sherman's penis was still inside her. She was able to sit up. However, he then put his fingers in her vagina and pulled something out that he claimed was a condom, and then left to take a shower. Tina got dressed and, when Sherman returned from showering, she asked to be taken home. He drove her home and as she got out of the car, Sherman said she "was his girlfriend now."

E. Crimes Against Meagan D. (Counts 14 Through 22) 

The jury convicted Sherman of nine crimes 4 arising out of his 1999 assault on Meagan D. They met in the September 1999 and, after speaking on the telephone a few times, arranged for Sherman to come to Meagan's apartment to have a few drinks and then go out together. Sherman arrived at Meagan's apartment with a cooler containing gin and tonic, and made her a drink. After she consumed half to three-quarters of that drink, she also had a shot of tequila. About 25 minutes after Meagan began drinking the gin and tonic, she began [*12]  to feel "fuzzy headed" and woozy.

4   Sherman was convicted of forcible rape ( § 261, subd. (a)(2), count 17), rape by use of drugs ( § 261, subd. (a)(3), count 18), rape of an unconscious person ( § 261, subd. (a)(4), count 19), rape by foreign object of an unconscious person ( § 289, subd. (d), count 20), rape by foreign object by use of force ( § 289, subd. (a)(1), count 21), and oral copulation of an unconscious person ( § 288a, subd. (f), count 22), along with charges of kidnapping ( § 207, subd. (a), count 14), kidnapping for rape ( § 209, subd. (b)(1), count 15), and residential burglary ( § 459, count 16), with Meagan D. as the victim. The information also alleged, and the jury found true, five special circumstances under section 667.61 (see footnote 24, post).

The next thing Meagan remembered was driving to a bar, where Sherman ordered a pitcher of beer. However, she stated she could not drink any more. She had some memory of her time in the bar, including talking to another patron at the [*13]  bar. The next thing she recalled was vomiting while she sat in the passenger seat of Sherman's car in a parking lot. Sherman brought her a napkin and told her he was going back inside the bar to finish the beer he had bought. When he returned he said they needed to leave. When Meagan responded that she could not go anywhere, Sherman replied there was an undercover policeman in the area and stated "we've got to get out of here." Sherman then drove them to her apartment.

Meagan next remembered lying face down on an air mattress in her apartment; she was naked and Sherman was rubbing her buttocks with his hands. She asked why he had taken off her clothes, and he said she had asked him to. Sherman then rolled Meagan onto her side and rubbed her vagina. She squeezed her legs together, saying, "No. Stop," but Sherman nevertheless inserted his fingers inside her vagina. He then rolled her onto her back and orally copulated her. She next remembered lying on her back with Sherman's penis inside her vagina. She tried to close her legs and roll away but could not recall if she succeeded.

When she awoke the next morning Sherman was lying naked beside her. She dressed and went to the bathroom [*14]  where she vomited. She later left the bathroom and sat on a couch. Sherman woke up and, when she did not respond to his call for her to come to the bedroom, he came out and sat next to her on the couch. She was crying and Sherman tried to become affectionate. She told him, "What happened last night was really wrong. You need to leave." Sherman tried to convince her nothing was wrong but eventually left.

After Sherman left, Meagan called a number of people, including her boyfriend. The boyfriend called 9-1-1. Paramedics arrived and took her to the hospital where a SART nurse examined her. The examination revealed abrasions on Meagan's genital area.

F. Prior Conduct Evidence (Evidence Code Section 1108)

Over Sherman's objections the trial court admitted into evidence the following prior conduct testimony.

Lauri L. 

In November 1993 Sherman approached Lauri L. at a bar and introduced himself. She accepted his offer to buy her a drink. She waited at a table while Sherman went to get the drink, and when he returned with the drink he stated, "I think you're really going to like this drink." She drank about three-quarters of the drink and began to feel "woozy" as she talked to [*15]  Sherman. At closing time, Sherman offered to take her to her car. They got into Sherman's car and he drove toward her parked car but he passed it, stating he wanted to take her to Denny's Restaurant. However, when he drove past the Denny's without stopping, Lauri began saying, "Take me to my car."

Lauri was feeling woozy, lethargic and euphoric. She had a vague memory of stopping at a taco shop, and the next thing Lauri remembered was sitting on a couch. She was feeling woozy and dizzy. Sherman led her to the bathroom and then took her to a bedroom. She remembered lying in the bedroom while Sherman pinned her arms down; she was either partially or completely undressed. She knew he was about to have intercourse with her, and when she tried to cover her crotch with her hand Sherman moved her hand away and had intercourse with her.

When she awoke the next morning she felt lethargic and as though she'd been "hit by a freight train." They had intercourse twice more that day; Lauri did not want to have sex with Sherman but felt trapped and feared angering him if she resisted. Sherman allowed her to call her work to report she was sick, but she did not ask for help because she did not want [*16]  to anger Sherman. He later drove her to her car. A few days later Lauri went to Planned Parenthood because her vaginal area burned and itched; she told the nurse she was the victim of date rape. She also reported the incident to police.

Ariane P. 

Sherman met Ariane in 1997 and asked her for a date. She stated she was not interested but asked if he wanted to go to church with her. She gave him her telephone number. He called several times to ask her for a date. He finally convinced her to have dinner with him.

On their date, they first took Ariane's car to a mechanic, and then Sherman drove them to his apartment so he could change his clothes. At the apartment, he offered her a beer; she consumed part of the beer. At some point Sherman kissed her, and she told him "to some degree he needed to back off" and the two left and walked to a restaurant. Ariane drank a beer with dinner and another while shooting pool. After the last beer, she felt woozy and extremely intoxicated. She looked around for a pay telephone to call a friend to pick her up and then remembered nothing until she awoke in Sherman's apartment.

When Ariane awoke in Sherman's apartment, she found herself lying naked [*17]  on Sherman's bed; he was on top of her and started to insert his penis into her vagina. She pushed him off and jumped off the bed. She went to the bathroom, returned to collect her clothes from the foot of the bed, got dressed, and told Sherman she needed to go to work. She felt sick to her stomach and had an "extreme" headache. Sherman drove her to work. She was crying and Sherman tried to hold her hand. When she pulled away he asked, "Why don't you want to touch me, baby? If it makes you feel any better, we made love all night long and it was really good."

Ariane called a friend to pick her up from work. She vomited, had a headache and stomachache, and her thighs, back and vagina hurt. She eventually called police and they took her to a hospital where a nurse examined her. Sherman was charged in connection with the assault and pleaded no contest to violating section 261, subdivision (a)(4), rape of an unconscious person.

II

ANALYSIS

A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Denying Sherman's Wheeler Motion

During jury selection, Sherman made Wheeler/Batson 5 objections to four instances in which the prosecutor exercised his peremptory challenges [*18]  to jurors who, like Sherman, were African-American. The court found a prima facie showing had been made requiring an explanation for the challenges asserted as to three of those jurors, and the prosecution responded by offering a race-neutral explanation for each of those three peremptory challenges. The trial court denied Sherman's Wheeler/Batson motion, stating "I'm satisfied [the prosecution's reasons] are not race related based on the responses to specific questions[.]" Sherman contends this ruling was an abuse of discretion. Sherman also contends the court erred because, after finding a prima facie case of discrimination as to prospective juror Flanagan, the court denied the Wheeler/Batson motion without requiring any explanation from the prosecutor about the reasons for his peremptory challenge to Flanagan. 

5   People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258, 148 Cal. Rptr. 890, 583 P.2d 748; Batson v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 79, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69, 106 S. Ct. 1712.

 [*19] Legal Framework 

The use of peremptory challenges to excuse prospective jurors solely on the basis of a presumed group bias based on membership in a racial group violates both the state and federal Constitutions. (People v. Turner (1994) 8 Cal.4th 137, 164, 878 P.2d 521; Wheeler, supra, 22 Cal.3d at pp. 276-277; Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at p. 89.) If a party believes his opponent is using his peremptory challenges to excuse jurors in violation of Wheeler and Batson, the point must be raised in timely fashion and a prima facie case of discrimination made to the satisfaction of the court by showing "a strong likelihood that such persons are being challenged because of their group association rather than because of any specific bias." (Wheeler, supra, at p. 280.)

"When a trial court denies a Wheeler motion because it finds no prima facie case of group bias was established, the reviewing court considers the entire record of voir dire." (People v. Davenport (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1171, 1200, 906 P.2d 1068.) A trial court's determination that there was no prima facie showing group bias motivated [*20]  the peremptory challenge is subject to review based on whether substantial evidence supports the ruling. (People v. Jenkins (2000) 22 Cal.4th 900, 993, 997 P.2d 1044.) If the trial court denies the Wheeler motion based on no prima facie showing, we affirm the ruling "if the record 'suggests grounds upon which the prosecutor might reasonably have challenged' the jurors in question . . . ." (People v. Howard (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1132, 1155, 824 P.2d 1315, quoting People v. Bittaker (1989) 48 Cal.3d 1046, 1092, 259 Cal. Rptr. 630, 774 P.2d 659.)

However, when a trial court concludes the party raising a Wheeler objection has shown '' 'a prima facie case of racial discrimination (step one), the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the [juror excusal] to come forward with a race-neutral explanation (step two). If a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide (step three) whether the opponent of the [excusal] has proved purposeful racial discrimination.' " (People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345, 384 [quoting Purkett v. Elem (1995) 514 U.S. 765, 767, 131 L. Ed. 2d 834, 115 S. Ct. 1769].) [*21]  When the trial court examines the explanations of the prosecutor, it must make "a sincere and reasoned attempt to evaluate" the prosecutor's explanation to determine whether the stated race-neutral explanation was genuine (People v. Silva, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 386) and actually motivated the exercise of the particular peremptory challenge. (People v. Fuentes (1991) 54 Cal.3d 707, 720, 286 Cal. Rptr. 792, 818 P.2d 75.) The explanation need not rise to the level that would justify excusing a juror for cause (Batson, supra, 476 U.S. at p. 97), and an adequate justification may rest on nothing more than a hunch as long as exclusion is based on that hunch rather than on impermissible group bias. (People v. Box (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1153, 1186, fn. 6.) "If the trial court makes a 'sincere and reasoned effort' to evaluate the nondiscriminatory justifications offered, its conclusions are entitled to deference on appeal. In such circumstances, an appellate court will not reassess good faith by conducting its own comparative juror analysis. Such an approach would undermine the trial court's credibility determinations and would [*22]  discount ' "the variety of [subjective] factors and considerations," ' including 'prospective jurors' body language or manner of answering questions,' which legitimately inform a trial lawyer's decision to exercise peremptory challenges." (People v. Montiel (1993) 5 Cal.4th 877, 909, 855 P.2d 1277.)

Here, the trial court did not require any explanation as to the peremptory challenge of prospective juror Flanagan, and we therefore examine whether the record contains substantial evidence that " 'suggests grounds upon which the prosecutor might reasonably have challenged' the [juror] in question . . . ." (People v. Howard, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 1155.) However, the trial court did require explanations for three other peremptory challenges, and the prosecutor defended these three challenges by giving reasons that were facially neutral. (Purkett v. Elem, supra, 514 U.S. 765, 768 [" 'Unless a discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor's explanation, the reason offered will be deemed race neutral' "].) Sherman does not claim the prosecutor's stated reasons were facially deficient. Accordingly, our analysis of these latter [*23]  three challenges is limited to step three: whether the trial court abused its discretion when it concluded the stated reasons for the peremptory challenges were genuinely race-neutral and were based on responses to specific questions. (People v. Jackson (1996) 13 Cal.4th 1164, 1198, 920 P.2d 1254.)

Evaluation 

The court found a prima facie showing had been made as to the prosecutor's challenges to prospective jurors Thrower, Cornute and Graham, and sought the prosecutor's explanations. The prosecutor explained he did not believe Thrower could be fair because Thrower's son had been prosecuted by the District Attorney, Thrower did not believe the system had treated his son fairly, and Thrower opposed the death penalty. The record confirms the prosecutor probed Thrower on voir dire about his view that the system had been unfair to his son, and Thrower had expressed concerns about the fairness of the jury's generational and racial composition in his son's trial, as well as the fact that a victim at the preliminary hearing had misidentified Thrower (who was sitting in the audience) as the suspect. On this record, we must defer to the trial court's conclusion that the [*24]  prosecutor's stated concerns about Thrower were genuine and actually motivated the exercise of the peremptory challenge. 6
6   Sherman attacks the sincerity of the prosecutor's stated reasons by noting that the prosecutor did not exercise peremptory challenges to another juror who expressed opposition to capital punishment, or to three other jurors who also had negative encounters with the police or judicial system. However, "it is a combination of factors rather than any single one [that] often leads to the exercise of a peremptory challenge. . . . [P] . . . [P] [and] it should be apparent, therefore, that the very dynamics of the jury selection process make it difficult, if not impossible, on a cold record, to evaluate or compare the peremptory challenge of one juror with the retention of another juror [that] on paper appears to be substantially similar." (People v. Johnson (1989) 47 Cal.3d 1194, 1220-1221, 255 Cal. Rptr. 569, 767 P.2d 1047.) Because a prosecutor could well conclude that a constellation of considerations warranted a peremptory excusal of Thrower, there is no basis for disturbing the trial court's rejection of Sherman's Wheeler motion as to prospective juror Thrower.

 [*25]  The prosecutor's reasons for striking Cornute were that she "does not talk to people about anything in detail," she was not insightful, she had few thoughts about the system, and she appeared unconcerned about the trial process or jury service beyond her desire to use jury service to get out of work. The record confirms the prosecutor conducted extensive voir dire with Cornute concerning her unfamiliarity with the effects of alcohol as well as her apparent lack of interest in the criminal justice system and her wish to serve on the jury merely to get out of work for a lengthy period of time. Although Sherman points out that other unchallenged jurors expressed analogous sentiments toward the justice system, and another unchallenged juror did not consume alcohol, we have previously explained (see footnote 6) that a comparative analysis does not provide a basis for concluding the trial court abused its discretion when it accepted the prosecutor's explanation as genuine.

The prosecutor's stated reason for challenging Graham was that her answers suggested "she had a real problem with sitting in judgment of somebody," which might make her reluctant to send someone to prison, and noted [*26]  that Graham's jury questionnaire stated she had previously served on a jury that convicted a defendant and it had taken her a long time to get over the experience of sending someone to jail. The record confirms the prosecutor conducted extensive voir dire with Graham, inquiring whether her prior experience (which left her depressed for several days) might impact her ability to sit in judgment, and the prosecutor was so concerned with Graham's ability to vote for a guilty verdict that he attempted to have her dismissed for cause. Although the court denied the "for cause" challenge, a trial court could reasonably conclude that the prosecutor's race-neutral concerns about Graham genuinely motivated that peremptory challenge.

The court apparently did not find a prima facie case had been made as to the peremptory strike of Flanagan because it did not include Flanagan in the list of peremptory challenges requiring explanation by the prosecutor. 7 Because a Wheeler motion calls upon a trial judge to rely in part on his or her personal observations of the challenged juror, we review the ruling with considerable deference, examining the entire record of voir dire, and must affirm the [*27]  ruling "if the record 'suggests grounds upon which the prosecutor might reasonably have challenged' the [juror] in question . . . ." (People v. Howard, supra, 1 Cal.4th at p. 1155.) There is substantial evidence supporting the trial judge's conclusion that there was no prima facie showing that race was the basis for the peremptory challenge of Flanagan. First, the prosecutor did not engage in desultory voir dire, but instead extensively questioned her. (People v. Box, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 1189 [depth of voir dire relevant to assessment of prima facie showing under Wheeler].) The voir dire touched on such subjects such as her views of the death penalty, her personal experiences with alcohol, her emotional reactions to her prior jury service, and her belief that she had a knack for evaluating whether a person was truthful or not, and there were several responses that could have raised concerns for the prosecutor. For example, Flanagan admitted to feeling a great deal of stress and depression during her prior jury service and apprehension that this jury service would cause depression. A prosecutor could well conclude that this trial, which [*28]  ultimately required over one month of jury service, required jurors whose decision-making abilities would be unimpaired by depression or stress. 8 Additionally, the court could have considered that although the prosecutor peremptorily challenged Flanagan as an alternate juror, the prosecutor also left an African-American as an alternate juror. (People v. Box, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 1189 [presence of African-American juror relevant to assessment of prima facie showing under Wheeler].) On this record, there is substantial evidence to support the court's conclusion that no prima facie case had been made as to the peremptory challenge of Flanagan.

7   The court, after hearing Sherman's argument that there was a pattern of challenging African-American prospective jurors and there appeared to be no race-neutral basis for the four challenges, stated "I'm going to agree with you in part. I'm going to find that there is a necessity for explanation as to the three. . . . [P] Mr. Walsh [the prosecutor], do you care to explain further as to the three?" When Mr. Walsh indicated that his notes showed four peremptory challenges of African-American prospective jurors, the court responded "Yes. Ms. Flanagan was an alternate . . . . [P] I'm dealing with Thrower, Cornute and Graham."

 [*29] 

8   There were other answers that could have raised race-neutral concerns about Flanagan. She stated that she did not consume alcohol because of the impacts it had on her memory; the prosecutor might have been concerned Flanagan might look with disdain on women who drank alcohol, or that she might doubt the prosecution's claim that the victims reaction to the alcohol was likely attributable to drugs rather than merely to the alcohol he gave them. Flanagan also expressed surprise "that this person is just being brought to trial" because some of the charged crimes were of relatively ancient vintage; the prosecutor could well have been concerned that Flanagan would have viewed some of the victims with greater skepticism. These concerns need not be "persuasive, or even plausible," but need only be race-neutral. (Purkett v. Elem, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 768.)

B. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Rejection of Sherman's Motion to Dismiss Counts 8 Through 10 

Sherman filed a pretrial motion seeking to dismiss the counts associated with his 1995 assault on Kristina H. He [*30]  argued the police were aware of the alleged assault immediately after it occurred but delayed filing charges until March 2000, and the preaccusation delay denied him due process. The court deferred ruling on the motion until after trial, and ultimately denied the motion. Sherman argues this ruling was error. 9 

9   Sherman's motion also sought dismissal of the counts involving Carolyn K. (counts 1 and 2) and Nancy O. (counts 3 through 7); the court also denied the motion as to those counts. However, because Sherman does not on appeal contest the ruling as to those counts, we examine only the propriety of its ruling on counts 8 through 10.

1. Applicable Standards
When there is a substantial delay between the commission of the offense and the filing of criminal charges, an accused may obtain dismissal of the charges if the delay is found to violate his or her due process rights under article I, section 15 of the California Constitution or under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 107.) [*31]  A motion to dismiss under the California Constitution involves a three-step process. First, the accused must show he or she was prejudiced by the delay (People v. Morris (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1, 37, 249 Cal. Rptr. 119, 756 P.2d 843, disapproved on other grounds by In re Sassounian (1995) 9 Cal.4th 535, 545, fn. 6, 887 P.2d 527), which is a factual question for the trial court. (People v. Hill (1984) 37 Cal.3d 491, 499, 209 Cal. Rptr. 323, 691 P.2d 989.) If the defendant shows prejudice, the court next examines the prosecution's justification for the delay. (People v. Dunn-Gonzalez (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 899, 911.) "The appraisal of the reasonableness of the delay is ordinarily confided to the trial court's discretion" (People v. Washington (1979) 95 Cal. App. 3d 488, 494, 157 Cal. Rptr. 58), and examines "the particular circumstances surrounding the decision not to prosecute, the length of the delay, and the reasons for the subsequent re-evaluation and prosecution . . . ." (Penney v. Superior Court (1972) 28 Cal. App. 3d 941, 954, 105 Cal. Rptr. 162.) Finally, the court balances the harm [*32]  to the defendant against the justification for the delay. (People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 107.) 10 

10   Although a preaccusation delay can also violate the federal due process right, it appears that a defendant must show an additional element under federal law, e.g. that the preaccusation delay was undertaken to gain a tactical advantage over the defendant. (United States v. Lovasco (1977) 431 U.S. 783, 785, 52 L. Ed. 2d 752, 97 S. Ct. 2044.) Sherman made no attempt to satisfy that element either below or on appeal, and we therefore do not further examine his claim to the extent it is premised on federal constitutional rights. We also note there are some cases that could support an argument that this federal element should be imported into the analysis under the California Constitution. (See People v. Butler (1995) 36 Cal.App.4th 455, 466-467 ["Like the federal right, the state preaccusation guarantee is based on principles of due process and the right to a fair trial. . . . It follows that the same analysis employed in considering preaccusation delay in light of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution is employed in considering preaccusation delay in light of article I, section 15 of California's Constitution . . . ."].) However, we recognize that the court in People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th 81, after reciting the basic three-step approach, went on to state at page 107 that "[a] claim based upon the federal Constitution also requires a showing that the delay was undertaken to gain a tactical advantage over the defendant" (italics added), permitting an inference that such element is not one required by the California Constitution. However, when Catlin rejected the claim, it stated "the justification for the delay far outweighed the weak showing of prejudice presented by defendant. We also observe that there was no evidence . . . the delay was undertaken in order to gain an advantage over defendant. . . ." (Id. at pp. 109-110, italics added.) Because we conclude the trial court could have properly denied the motion even without consideration of whether the additional federal element was shown, it is unnecessary to definitively decide whether that additional element is necessary to show a violation of article I, section 15 of the California Constitution.

 [*33]  2. Analysis
The assault on Kristina H. occurred January 29, 1995; she reported the crimes and a SART exam was conducted, including the collection of swabs and hair and blood samples. However, in February 1995 the District Attorney declined to prosecute "due to lack of evidence, lack of corroboration and lack of credibility on the part of the victim." The SART samples were not sent for testing, and were not retained. In 1998, when Sherman was prosecuted in the Ariane P. matter, the prosecution was aware of the Kristina H. matter but chose not to pursue criminal charges.

Sherman argues he was prejudiced by the delay because (1) the destruction of the SART samples precluded Sherman from testing those samples to determine the level of alcohol or whether drugs were present in her system, and (2) joining the Kristina H. matter with the charges involving the other victims harmed his ability to defend against the Kristina H. charges. 11
11   Sherman also argued below that his ability to defend himself was impaired by the faded memories of Kristina H. and other witnesses, as well as the inability to locate possible defense witnesses at the Mexican restaurant to which Sherman took Kristina H. or at the last bar they patronized before going to the Mexican restaurant. Sherman does not resurrect these claims of prejudice on appeal. He also argued below that the failure to join the Kristina H. charges with the Ariane P. matters increased the severity of his sentence for the Kristina H. matter because the Ariane P. conviction served as a "strike" when he was sentenced for the Kristina H. crimes. However, this is speculative because it assumes he would have been acquitted of the Kristina H. crimes in 1998. If he had been convicted of both the Ariane P. and Kristina H. offenses in 1998, he would have been sentenced in 2000 as a third strike defendant, potentially increasing the severity of his current sentence.

 [*34]  However, the SART samples were apparently destroyed within six months after the District Attorney decided to decline prosecution in 1995. Accordingly, even had the prosecution charged Sherman with the Kristina H. crimes when it filed the Ariane P. charges in 1998, as Sherman now argues it should have, those samples had already been irretrievably lost. Moreover, the absence of the samples was essentially harmless: there was no issue of the identity of Kristina's assailant; there was no dispute that Kristina had ingested a substantial amount of alcohol; and the evidence suggested that even if Kristina's blood and urine had tested negatively for drugs, this could still have been consistent with having been drugged earlier in the evening because of the rapid metabolization of "date-rape" drugs. 12 Accordingly, there is substantial evidence to support the conclusion that, insofar as the lost evidence claim was concerned, the delay in filing the Kristina H. charges from 1998 until 2000 was not prejudicial.

12   Additionally, we note there was apparently no evidence that, even if the samples had been retained until 1998, when Sherman was prosecuted in the Ariane P. matter, the samples would not have degraded or drugs would still have been detectable.

 [*35]  Sherman also argues the delay prejudiced him because, if he had been prosecuted in 1998, his defense of the Kristina H. charges would not have been damaged by the corroborative impact provided by the other offenses in which he employed a similar modus operandi. However, to the extent the Ariane P. offenses provided the jury with corroboration, that same corroboration would have been available if (as Sherman claims should have happened) the Ariane P. offenses had been tried jointly with the Kristina H. crimes. To the extent his later offenses provided the jury with corroboration of his guilt of the Kristina H. crimes, that prejudice is not the result of the delay but was instead the result of Sherman's continued criminal conduct.

Moreover, even if the collection of corroborative evidence can be deemed prejudicial, the decision in People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th 81 undermines Sherman's argument that the delay violated his right to due process. In Catlin, our Supreme Court noted at page 109:

" 'Prosecutors are under no duty to file charges as soon as probable cause exists but before they are satisfied they will be able to establish the suspect's guilt [*36]  beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . Investigative delay is fundamentally unlike delay undertaken by the government solely to gain tactical advantage over an accused . . . . A prosecutor abides by elementary standards of fair play and decency by refusing to seek indictments until he or she is completely satisfied the defendant should be prosecuted and the office of the prosecutor will be able to promptly establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.' [Quoting People v. Dunn-Gonzalez, supra, 47 Cal.App.4th at pp. 914-915.]"

In Catlin, the court concluded filing murder charges in 1985 alleging that the defendant had murdered his wife in 1976 by poisoning her with paraquat did not violate due process. The court reasoned that the evidence available prior to 1984 made it "extremely difficult or impossible to make out a case against defendant at or near the time of the murder," but that "by the time defendant was charged, of course, additional evidence of his guilt had emerged--particularly his involvement in the paraquat poisoning of two more persons." (People v. Catlin, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 109, italics added.) Thus, the fact Sherman engaged in [*37]  similar criminal conduct during the hiatus that provided corroborative evidence of his guilt of earlier offenses provides "justification for the delay [that] far outweighed the weak showing of prejudice presented by" Sherman. (Ibid.) The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Sherman's motion to dismiss counts 8 through 10.

C. CALJIC No. 2.50.01 Does Not Violate Due Process

The court admitted evidence of Sherman's uncharged sexual offenses against Ariane P. and Lauri L. pursuant to Evidence Code sections 1101, subdivision (b) and 1108. After the testimony was presented to the jury, and again prior to deliberations, the court instructed the jury on the use of this evidence with an instruction based on the 2000 revised version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01. 13 The court also instructed with CALJIC No. 2.50.2, defining the preponderance of the evidence standard, and CALJIIC No. 2.90, reciting the presumption of innocence and proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Sherman contends that CALJIC No. 2.50.01 violates due process because it could be understood by a jury to permit conviction based solely on his prior offenses proven only by the preponderance of the evidence, and [*38]  thereby relieve the prosecution of proving all of the elements of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt.

13   "Evidence has been introduced for the purpose of showing that the defendant engaged in a sexual offense on one or more occasions other than that charged in the case. [P] . . . [P] If you find that the defendant committed a prior sexual offense, you may, but are not required to, infer that the defendant had a disposition to commit sexual offenses. If you find that the defendant had this disposition, you may, but are not required to, infer that he was likely to commit and did commit the crimes of which he is accused. [P] However, if you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant committed prior sexual offenses, that is not sufficient by itself to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the charged crimes. The weight and significance of the evidence, if any, are for you to decide. [P] Unless you are otherwise instructed, you must not consider this evidence for any other purpose."

 [*39]  CALJIC No. 2.50.01 was revised in 2000. The Courts of Appeal had divergent opinions on whether the former versions violated due process. Some courts held there was a reasonable likelihood the jurors could interpret these earlier instructions to authorize conviction of the defendant of the current crimes based merely on proof by a preponderance of evidence that the defendant committed the prior crimes, a constitutionally impermissible result. (See People v. Vichroy (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 92, 98-101 [evaluating pre-1999 version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01].) Other courts held there was no reasonable likelihood the jurors interpreted former versions of CALJIC No. 2.50.01 to permit conviction based solely upon evidence of prior crimes when the instructions were considered as a whole, including the usual instructions on the prosecution's burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (See, e.g., People v. Van Winkle (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 133, 147-149; People v. Regalado (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1056.) 14
14   There was a similar split of opinion whether earlier versions of CALJIC No. 2.50.02, which gave analogous treatment to evidence of prior uncharged acts of domestic violence, violated due process by misleading the jury into convicting based on a preponderance of the evidence standard. (Compare People v. Younger (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1360 [pre-1999 version of CALJIC No. 2.50.02 violates due process] with People v. O'Neal (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1065 [pre-1999 version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01 does not violate due process].)

 [*40]  Here, the court's instruction was derived from the 2000 version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01. In People v. Falsetta (1999) 21 Cal.4th 903, 986 P.2d 182, the court rejected a due process challenge to the admission of uncharged sex offenses pursuant to Evidence Code section 1108. The trial court had also given the pre-1999 version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01, and had refused several special instructions submitted by the defendant that attempted to correct some of the defects identified in cases criticizing former CALJIC No. 2.50.01. The Falsetta court endorsed the 1999 revised version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01, stating it "adequately sets forth the controlling principles under [Evidence Code] section 1108." (Falsetta, at p. 924.) The court noted that language added in the 1999 revision specifically cautions the jury that even if it finds "the defendant committed prior sexual offenses, that is not sufficient by itself to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the charged crimes." (Id. at p. 923.) Although the decision in Falsetta is not dispositive, because the current version had not been given and the appellant in that case did not challenge [*41]  it on due process grounds, it nevertheless provides guidance. Falsetta cited the 1999 revision as an example of "language appropriate for cases involving the admission of disposition evidence." (Id. at p. 922.)

In People v. Brown (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1324, the court upheld the 1999 revision of CALJIC No. 2.50.02. It reasoned the instruction given "did not allow the jury to infer that [the defendant] committed the charged crime solely from proof that he committed the prior acts of domestic violence. To the contrary, the instructions expressly provided that 'evidence that the defendant committed prior offenses involving domestic violence is not sufficient by itself to prove that he committed the charged offenses.' " (Brown, at p. 1335.) Although Brown recognized that Falsetta had not decided the constitutionality of the 1999 revisions, Brown nevertheless reasoned that "it is improbable that the California Supreme Court would suggest an instruction 'adequately sets forth the controlling principles' for considering other crimes evidence, and then find that same instruction to be constitutionally defective." (Id. at p. 1336.) [*42]  Similar reasoning convinced the court in People v. Hill (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 273, 277-278 that the 1999 revision to CALJIC No. 2.50.01 mitigated the constitutional concerns raised by cases such as Vichroy.

Sherman argues the language of the revision to CALJIC No. 2.50.01, advising the jury that even if it finds the defendant committed the prior sexual offenses "that is not sufficient by itself to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the charged crimes" (italics added), is substantively identical to the language in the instruction that People v. Vichroy, supra, 76 Cal.App.4th 92 found constitutionally infirm. In Vichroy the trial court instructed the jury that " 'you may not convict [the defendant] merely because you believe he committed . . . another offense or because you believe he has a character trait that tends to predispose him to committing the charged offense. [P] The question before you is whether the defendant is guilty of the crime charged in this case, not whether he is guilty of any other offense.' " (Id. at p. 100, fn. omitted.) The court found this additional language insufficient to correct [*43]  the erroneous impression given under former CALJIC No. 2.50.01 that the jury could find the defendant guilty solely on the basis that it found he had committed the prior offenses. (Id. at pp. 99-101.)

In contrast to the language evaluated by Vichroy, the italicized language in the revised instruction specifically advises the jury that even if it finds the defendant committed the prior sexual offenses and draws the inference that the defendant has the disposition to commit similar crimes, and permits an inference that he was likely to have and did commit the charged offense, that inference alone is not sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he did commit the charged offenses. The jury is also cautioned that the weight and significance of the evidence, if any, is for the jury to decide. We conclude that, even if defects existed in the prior versions of the instructions, there is no reasonable likelihood the jury interpreted the version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01 they received as permitting conviction based solely upon evidence of prior crimes when all the instructions taken as a whole are considered, including the cautionary language contained within [*44]  the instruction and the usual instructions on the prosecution's burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 15
15   Sherman correctly notes that the court in Vichroy, as well as the courts in People v. James (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 1343 and People v. Frazier (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 30, criticized the instructional language that proof of the uncharged offenses permitted an inference that the defendant "was likely to and did commit" the charged offenses. Those courts reasoned the italicized words could mislead the jury into finding that the defendant "did commit" the charged offenses based solely on proof by a preponderance of the uncharged offenses (Vichroy, supra, 76 Cal.App.4th at pp. 98-101; Frazier, supra, at pp. 35-37; James, supra, at pp. 1353-1360), and Sherman complains the same "and did commit" language and its attendant danger was present in the instruction given here. However, the instruction here specifically cautioned that even if the jury found Sherman committed prior sexual offenses, "that is not sufficient by itself to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the charged crimes. The weight and significance of the [uncharged crimes] evidence, if any, are for you to decide." The James court, for example, criticized the "and did commit" language noting that "the jury must be reminded that propensity evidence alone cannot meet the prosecution's burden of proving the elements of the charged offense" (James, at p. 1353), and suggested that ameliorating language (analogous to that contained in the 2000 revised version of CALJIC No. 2.50.01) might have solved its concerns. (James, at pp. 1357-1358, fn. 8.) Frazier similarly suggested the instruction's principal defect was that "no instruction made up for the essential element missing from [the instruction]: an explanation to the jury it could not consider evidence of prior sexual offenses sufficient for a finding of guilt on the charged offenses." (Frazier, supra, at p. 36.) The instruction here, in contrast, provides that explanation.

 [*45]  D. The Judgment Reflecting Duplicative Rape Convictions Must Be Amended 

Sherman was charged with and convicted of 11 counts of rape arising from his assaults on four victims. However, Sherman asserts (and respondent does not dispute) that the evidence showed only one act of sexual intercourse with each of the four victims. Sherman argues that, under People v. Craig (1941) 17 Cal.2d 453, 110 P.2d 403 and People v. Scott (1944) 24 Cal.2d 774, 151 P.2d 517, although it is proper to plead as separate counts each applicable subdivision of section 261 describing the manner by which Sherman violated section 261, there can only be one conviction for violating section 261 when there is a single act of unlawful intercourse. We agree that, under Craig and Scott, the convictions on the duplicative rape counts must be consolidated.

"Rape is an act of sexual intercourse with a person without that person's effective consent." (2 Witkin, Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000) Sex Offenses and Crimes Against Decency, § 1, p. 317.) The various subdivisions of section 261 set forth the circumstances under which the victim's lack of effective consent [*46]  may be demonstrated, but these subdivisions "are not separate crimes; hence, one act of intercourse results in only one punishable offense of rape, even though it may come within more than one subdivision." (Id. at § 7, pp. 321-322.) Thus, in People v. Craig, supra, 17 Cal.2d 453, an information charged the defendant with two counts of rape because a single act of intercourse violated two different subdivisions of section 261; the defendant was found guilty of both counts. (Craig, at pp. 454-455.) The Craig court recognized that section 954 permits a prosecutor to state the same offense in separate counts, but concluded that it was improper to enter a judgment of conviction for multiple rape offenses, reasoning at page 455:

"Under [section 261], but one punishable offense of rape results from a single act of intercourse, although that act may be accomplished under more than one of the conditions or circumstances specified in the foregoing subdivisions. These subdivisions merely define the circumstances under which an act of intercourse may be deemed an act of rape; they are not to be construed as creating several offenses of rape based upon that single [*47]  act. This conclusion finds support in section 263 of the Penal Code which provides that 'The essential guilt of rape consists in the outrage to the person and the feelings of the female.' The victim was not doubly outraged, once because she was forcibly attacked and once because she was under 18 years of age. There was but a single outrage and offense."

Here, the trial court permitted multiple convictions to remain but applied section 654 to stay punishment for all but one of the convictions. This appears contrary to Craig. 16 After discussing a series of cases that upheld the propriety of multiple convictions in which the same course of conduct injured multiple victims or offended distinct statutes, Craig noted these cases were:

"distinguishable from the situation here confronting the court. In the cited instances, the one act or transaction either injured or affected two or more victims or ran counter to two or more separate and distinct statutes defining different crimes with variable elements. . . . But none of the foregoing distinguishable characteristics is here present. There is only one victim. There has been a violation of but one statute--section 261 of the Penal [*48]  Code. And, while the proof necessarily varies with respect to the several subdivisions of that section under which the charge may be brought, the sole punishable offense under any and all of them is the unlawful intercourse with the victim. We conclude that only one punishable offense of rape results from a single act of intercourse, though it may be chargeable in separate counts when accomplished under the varying circumstances specified in the subdivisions of section 261 of the Penal Code." (People v. Craig, supra, 17 Cal.2d at p. 458.)

Craig held that, although it is proper under section 954 to separately charge counts alleging the discrete conditions or circumstances under which an act of intercourse may be deemed an act of rape, 17 and even to separately return guilty verdicts on each of those counts, the ultimate judgment may only reflect a single conviction for violating section 261. (Accord, People v. Scott, supra, 24 Cal.2d at p. 776-777.) Accordingly, the convictions on the duplicative rape counts must be consolidated under the mandate of Craig.

16   Our conclusion that we should adhere to the remedy described in Craig is confirmed because we question the propriety of applying section 654 in the present context. By its own terms, section 654 operates when the "act or omission . . . is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law"; the rape convictions here are punishable in the same way by the same provision of law, e.g. by section 261. Witkin recognizes that, notwithstanding the remedy provided by section 654, the Craig remedy rather than section 654 applies to the particular facts presented here. (1 Witkin, Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000) Elements, § 28, p. 234.)

 [*49]  

17   Indeed, the court in People v. Collins (1960) 54 Cal.2d 57, 4 Cal. Rptr. 158, 351 P.2d 326, after stating at page 59 that "the subdivisions of section 261 do not state different offenses but merely define the different circumstances under which an act of intercourse constitutes the crime of rape," suggested that due process considerations would require statements for each theory proffered by the prosecution. (Id. at pp. 59-60.)

We also conclude that the counts to be stricken as consolidated under Craig shall be count 1 (as duplicative of count 2), counts 9 and 10 (as duplicative of count 8), counts 12 and 13 (as duplicative of count 11), and counts 18 and 19 (as duplicative of count 17), thus preserving those counts (counts 2, 8, 11 and 17) on which unstayed consecutive sentences were imposed. We recognize this disposition is contrary to Sherman's argument that counts 9, 12 and 18 (which alleged rape by use of drugs under section 261, subdivision (a)(3)) should be [*50]  preserved and therefore that counts 8, 11 and 17 (each of which alleged forcible rape under section 261, subdivision (a)(2)) must be dismissed. However, Sherman's only basis for this argument is the claim that rape by use of drugs under section 261, subdivision (a)(3) is a specific statute that controls and prevails over the more general statute of forcible rape under section 261, subdivision (a)(2), and under People v. Jenkins (1980) 28 Cal.3d 494, 170 Cal. Rptr. 1, 620 P.2d 587 the general statute is controlled by the specific statute and a defendant whose conduct violates both must be prosecuted under the more specific statute. However, our Supreme Court in Mitchell v. Superior Court (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1230, 265 Cal. Rptr. 144, 783 P.2d 731 explained at page 1250 that Jenkins "merely stands for the proposition that when the Legislature has enacted a specific statute addressing a specific matter, and has prescribed a sanction therefor, the People may not prosecute under a general statute that covers the same conduct, but which prescribes a more severe penalty, unless a legislative intent to permit such alternative prosecution clearly appears.  [*51]  [Citation.]" In a footnote, Mitchell then quoted approvingly from People v. Woods (1986) 177 Cal. App. 3d 327, 333-334, 222 Cal. Rptr. 868, which analyzed Jenkins and its predecessors by stating that: " 'Typically the issue whether a special criminal statute supplants a more general criminal statute arises where the special statute is a misdemeanor and the prosecution has charged a felony under the general statute instead. [Citations.] Such prosecutions raise a genuine issue whether the defendant is being subjected to a greater punishment than specified by the Legislature, and the basic question for the court to determine is whether the Legislature intended that the more serious felony provisions would remain available in appropriate cases.' [Citation.]" (Mitchell v. Superior Court, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1250, fn. 14.) The Jenkins approach has no application here because, even assuming section 261, subdivision (a)(3) proscribes a more specialized form of conduct that is also covered by the more generalized conduct proscribed by section 261, subdivision (a)(2), neither subdivision prescribes a more severe penalty than the other [*52]  and there is therefore no basis for inferring a legislative intent that conduct offending both subdivisions must be prosecuted under one rather than the other subdivision.

E. The Judgments of Conviction on Counts 4 Through 6 Must Be Modified and on Count 7 Must Be Reversed 

Sherman raises several claims attacking the verdict on counts 4 through 7 finding him guilty of four separate counts of felony sexual battery. First, he asserts all four convictions must be reversed for lack of substantial evidentiary support either (1) that the victim was unlawfully restrained or was touched in the manner proscribed by section 243.4, subdivision (a), or (2) that Sherman was the perpetrator. He also asserts that, even if we reject the foregoing arguments, the evidence supports only one (or at most two) rather than four separate convictions. Finally, in response to this court's request for supplemental briefing, Sherman also asserts there was prejudicial instructional error.

1. Statutory Scheme
Section 243.4 proscribes various forms of sexual battery, i.e., unlawful touching of "intimate parts." The more serious forms, which are defined in subdivisions (a) and (b), 18 require "physical [*53]  contact with the skin of another person whether accomplished directly or through the clothing of the person committing the offense" ( § 243.4, subd. (f)), and also require that the victim be either restrained (People v. Arnold (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 18, 26-30) or be medically incapacitated ( § 243.4, subd. (b)). However, section 243.4, subdivision (d) also proscribes a less serious form of the crime--misdemeanor sexual battery. Subdivision (d) is distinct from the more serious forms in two key respects: subdivision (d) can be violated by a broader class of "touchings"; and, unlike subdivisions (a) or (b), does not require that the victim be restrained or medically incapacitated. (People v. Dayan (1995) 34 Cal.App.4th 707, 715-716.) The verdict forms state that the jury found Sherman guilty "of the crime of Sexual Battery, in violation of Penal Code section 243.4, a lesser included offense within the crimes" charged in counts 4 through 7 of the amended information. The verdict does not specify whether the jury found Sherman guilty of this crime in its greater subdivision (a) degree or its lesser subdivision (d) degree. 

18   An equally serious form is defined in subdivision (c), but there is no claim that the offenses here qualified under that subdivision.

 [*54]  2. A Jury Could Have Found Sherman's Conduct Violated Subdivision (a)
Sherman's first set of contentions argues there was no evidence of "physical restraint," or touching of the skin, or that he was the perpetrator, because Nancy was unconscious and therefore provided no direct evidence of any of those elements. The test of whether evidence is sufficient to support a conviction is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. (People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576, 162 Cal. Rptr. 431, 606 P.2d 738.) The same standard of appellate review is applied when the evidence of guilt is primarily circumstantial. "Although it is the duty of the jury to acquit a defendant if it finds that circumstantial evidence is susceptible of two interpretations, one of which suggests guilt and the other innocence [citations], it is the jury, not the appellate court[,] which must be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. ' "If the circumstances reasonably justify the trier of fact's findings, the opinion of the [*55]  reviewing court that the circumstances might also be reasonably reconciled with a contrary finding does not warrant a reversal of the judgment." ' " (People v. Bean (1988) 46 Cal.3d 919, 932-933, 251 Cal. Rptr. 467, 760 P.2d 996.)

There is substantial evidence that Nancy was touched for purposes of sexual arousal. When Nancy awoke in Sherman's apartment, she found herself on a sofa with her bra undone and her tank top pushed up, providing circumstantial evidence that her breasts had been fondled. When Sherman later drove Nancy back to her car, she again passed out. Upon awakening in the driver's seat of her car, she found her bra and underwear had been removed and were on the floor of her car, again providing circumstantial evidence that her breasts and vaginal area had been fondled. Her subsequent discovery of a clear sticky substance on her vagina and in her pubic hair provided additional circumstantial confirmation that her vaginal area had been molested. There is substantial evidence of multiple touchings. 19
19   Sherman also suggests that it was possible that Sherman's roommate rather than Sherman was the perpetrator. However, the similarity of modus operandi between the assault on Nancy and Sherman's assaults on other victims permits an inference that the same perpetrator of the other assaults was also the perpetrator of the assaults on Nancy. (Evid. Code, § 1101, subd. (b).)

 [*56]  The evidence supporting the restraint element, although conflicting, would " ' "reasonably justify the trier of fact's findings" ' " (People v. Bean, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 933) that Sherman unlawfully restrained Nancy. The unlawful restraint element, although requiring more than merely exerting the physical effort required to commit the prohibited sexual act (People. v. Pahl (1991) 226 Cal. App. 3d 1651, 1661, 277 Cal. Rptr. 656), can be found even though the defendant does not physically restrain the victim. (People v. Grant (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1105, 1111.) A person is unlawfully restrained when the victim's liberty is "controlled by words, acts or authority of the perpetrator aimed at depriving the person's liberty, and such restriction is against the person's will" and that control is exerted unlawfully. (People v. Arnold, supra, 6 Cal.App.4th at p. 28.) If the jury concluded that Sherman had drugged Nancy to render her unconscious and vulnerable to sexual assaults, it could conclude Sherman engaged in acts that were unlawful and deprived her of her liberty to act, and such acts were beyond the conduct necessary [*57]  to commit the sexual assaults.

Sherman's final evidentiary argument is that there is no evidence to support four separate convictions for misdemeanor sexual battery. The evidence that Nancy found herself on a sofa with her bra was undone and her tank top pushed up provided evidence of a first sexual battery. The evidence that she later awoke in her car with her bra again removed provided evidence her breasts were again fondled and supported a second count for sexual battery. The evidence that she also found her underwear had been removed and a clear sticky substance was on her vagina provided evidence her vagina was fondled and supported a third count for sexual battery. However, there is no evidence of a fourth battery, and we therefore conclude the verdict on count 7 must be reversed. 20 

20   In a related contention, Sherman argued that either count 6 or 7 must be stricken because these counts were pleaded in the alternative, and therefore at most he can be convicted of only one of the counts. Because we reverse count 7 for lack of substantial evidence, this contention is moot.

 [*58]  3. The Instructional Error Was Prejudicial
The court instructed on section 243.4, subdivision (a) under the impression that it was a lesser included offense within the crimes charged in counts 4 through 7. Although the parties acknowledge section 243.4, subdivision (a) is not a lesser included offense to those crimes (see, e.g., People v. Dixon (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 935, 940-943), they also recognize that it is not reversible error for a court to give lesser-related offense instructions when, as here, such instructions are requested by the defense and there is no objection by the prosecution. (People v. Birks (1998) 19 Cal.4th 108, 136, fn. 19, 960 P.2d 1073.) However, once the court agreed to instruct on section 243.4, subdivision (a), it was also required sua sponte to instruct on all lesser included offenses to section 243.4, subdivision (a) as long as there was evidence " 'substantial enough to merit consideration by the jury' " that Sherman was potentially guilty only of the lesser offense. (People v. Hagen (1998) 19 Cal.4th 652, 672, 967 P.2d 563.) Respondent concedes section 243.4, subdivision (d) is a lesser included [*59]  offense to section 243.4, subdivision (a) (see Use Note to CALJIC 10.37 (9th ed. 2002) (2002 rev.) p. 240), and there is some evidence from which the jury might have concluded the unlawful restraint element necessary for the greater offense was absent. Accordingly, it was error to omit an instruction on section 243.4, subdivision (d).

We also conclude the omitted instruction constitutes prejudicial error because there exists a reasonable probability the jury would have convicted Sherman of the lesser offense if it had been instructed on the lesser offense. (People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 165, 960 P.2d 1094.) First, the jury acquitted Sherman of the charged offenses, suggesting the jury was at least somewhat skeptical of the prosecution's view of the evidence. Additionally, the evidence of "unlawful restraint" was both circumstantial and was undercut by other evidence showing that Nancy was unrestrained once she regained consciousness: she was free to move about the apartment and to leave without impediment. Indeed, when she was physically unable to drive Sherman's car but nevertheless expressed her desire to be taken to her car, Sherman complied without [*60]  protest. There is a reasonable probability that a fully instructed jury would have found that, although Sherman committed the prohibited touchings, it was not accompanied by unlawful restraint. Accordingly, the convictions on counts 4 through 6 are conditionally modified to show convictions for violating section 243.4, subdivision (d). (People v. Springfield (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 1674, 1680-1682.)

F. Substantial Evidence Supports the Kidnapping Conviction and True Findings 

Sherman argues we must reverse the conviction for kidnapping for purposes of rape ( § 209, subd. (b)(1), count 14), and the true findings on the section 667.61, subdivision (d)(2) kidnapping allegations appended to counts 17 and 21. 21 He argues that the conviction and the true findings required the jury to find that his movement of Meagan D. substantially increased the risk of harm to her beyond the risk necessarily inherent in the underlying crimes (People v. Rayford (1994) 9 Cal.4th 1, 22, 884 P.2d 1369; § 667.61, subd. (d)(2)), and there is no substantial evidence to support the conclusion that his asportation of Meagan substantially increased the risk of harm to her [*61]  above and beyond the danger inherent in the rapes alleged in counts 17 and 21.

21   Sherman was also convicted in count 15 of simple kidnapping, and he asserts this count is similarly unsupported by substantial evidence. However, he also contends the conviction for count 15 must be reversed because it was a necessarily lesser-included offense to count 14. Respondent concedes, and we agree, that reversal of this count is appropriate under People v. Jackson (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 182, 189-190 as a lesser included offense to count 14.

The parties agree on the applicable standards. As stated by People v. Rayford, supra, 9 Cal.4th 1, the asportation standard for an aggravated kidnapping and for the section 667.61, subdivision (d)(2) enhancement requires (1) "the movement of the victim [must] be for a distance . . . more than that which is merely incidental to the commission or attempted commission of rape," and (2) "this movement [must] substantially increase the risk of harm to [*62]  the victim over and above that necessarily present in the commission or attempted commission of these crimes." These two considerations are not mutually exclusive but are instead interrelated. (Rayford, at p. 22.)

Sherman argues substantial evidence does not support the jury's affirmative finding on the second prong: did the movement substantially increase the risk of harm to Meagan over and above that necessarily present in the commission of the rape and or the rape by foreign object by use of force? When evaluating this aspect, we consider "such factors as the decreased likelihood of detection, the danger inherent in a victim's foreseeable attempts to escape, and the attacker's enhanced opportunity to commit additional crimes." (People v. Rayford, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 13.) Any determination of the increase in the risk of harm involves a comparison of the victim's physical location before and after the asportation. (People v. Salazar (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 341, 348.)

Here, a jury could conclude that Sherman's movement of Meagan substantially increased the risk of harm to her. After administering the drugs to Meagan, Sherman moved her twice.  [*63]  He first moved her from her apartment to a bar. After some period of time at the bar, Sherman told Meagan they needed to leave. When she objected, he insisted on leaving because there was an undercover policeman in the area; he then drove them back to the seclusion of her apartment. Even assuming the first movement did not substantially increase the risk of harm to Meagan over and above that necessarily present in the commission of the offenses, 22 there is substantial evidence that second asportation--by which Sherman moved Meagan from the bar to the place where he ultimately raped her--did substantially increase the risk of harm. When Sherman moved Meagan from a public place to a private place, it increased the risk of harm by decreasing the chance for detection by passersby (People v. Diaz (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 243, 248); indeed, taking Meagan away from an area being patrolled by an undercover officer decreased the likelihood the officer would have noticed her drugged condition and intervened. Additionally, the isolated location enhanced Sherman's opportunity to commit additional crimes. (People v. Rayford, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 13.) Here, it [*64]  is unlikely Sherman could have committed any of the rapes if they had remained at the bar, but Sherman's movement of Meagan back to the apartment provided him the opportunity to commit multiple assaults against her.

22   Respondent argues that moving Meagan in her drugged condition increased the risk because she could have been injured by misadventure (e.g., by being involved in a car accident or getting out of the car and getting lost) or because her drugged state inhibited her ability to protect herself from other hazards or persons. It is unnecessary to decide whether this alone would have sufficed under Rayford because we conclude the second asportation is within the requirements of Rayford.
These considerations provide substantial evidence for the conclusion that Sherman's movement of Meagan substantially increased the risk of harm to her.

G. The Sentence Must Be Modified to Strike the Term Imposed for Count 16 

The trial court sentenced Sherman to 50 years to life on count 17 under the One [*65]  Strike law ( § 667.61), calculated by imposing 25 years to life under section 667.61, subdivision (a), and then doubling that term under the Three Strikes law. 23 Sherman concedes this aspect of his sentence was authorized because the information alleged and the jury found true two section 667.61, subdivision (d) factors and three section 667.61, subdivision (e) factors in connection with count 17. 24 However, Sherman argues it was error to also impose separate terms for counts 14 and 16. He argues that the same conduct charged as offenses in counts 14 and 16 were also charged as qualifying circumstances under subdivisions (d) and (e), and under section 667.61, subdivision (f) as construed by People v. Mancebo (2002) 27 Cal.4th 735, the same conduct may not be used both to elevate the sentence pursuant to section 667.61, subdivision (a) and to impose a separate punishment for such conduct. Accordingly, Sherman argues that either the sentence on count 14 or the sentence on count 16 must be stricken.

23   Sherman's opening brief initially challenged the propriety of doubling the One Strike term under the Three Strikes law. However, Sherman concedes that our Supreme Court's opinion in People v. Acosta (2002) 29 Cal.4th 105, filed after Sherman filed his opening brief, has resolved that argument adversely to Sherman's claim.

 [*66] 

24   Sherman's conviction for violating section 261, subdivision (a)(2) (count 17) is a current qualifying offense within the meaning of section 667.61, subdivision (a) ( § 667.61, subd. (c)(1)), and a 25-year-to-life sentence is required by subdivision (a) if the jury finds true either one subdivision (d) circumstance or two subdivision (e) circumstances. Section 667.61's list of subdivision (d) circumstances include that the defendant "kidnapped the victim of the present offense and the movement of the victim substantially increased the risk of harm to the victim over and above that level of risk necessarily inherent in the underlying offense" (subd. (d)(2)) or that he committed the present offense "during the commission of a burglary . . . with intent to commit" the offense (subd. (d)(4)). Section 667.61's list of subdivision (e) circumstances include "the defendant kidnapped the victim of the present offense in violation of Section 207, 208, 209, or 209.5" (except for kidnappings covered by subdivision (d)(2)), or committed the offense during the commission of a burglary (except for burglaries covered by subdivision (d)(4)), or was convicted in the present case of committing sex crimes against more than one victim. (Subds. (e)(1), (e)(2), & (e)(5).) All five of these circumstances were pleaded and found true by the jury.

 [*67]  Under section 667.61, subdivision (a), a person convicted of a qualifying current offense "under one or more of the circumstances specified in subdivision (d) or under two or more of the circumstances specified in subdivision (e)" must receive a life sentence with a minimum term of 25 years. However, subdivision (f) provides:

"If only the minimum number of circumstances specified in subdivision (d) or (e) which are required for the punishment provided in subdivision (a) or (b) to apply have been pled and proved, that circumstance or those circumstances shall be used as the basis for imposing the term provided in subdivision (a) or (b) rather than being used to impose the punishment authorized under any other law, unless another law provides for a greater penalty. However, if any additional circumstance or circumstances specified in subdivision (d) or (e) have been pled and proved, the minimum number of circumstances shall be used as the basis for imposing the term provided in subdivision (a), and any other additional circumstance or circumstances shall be used to impose any punishment or enhancement authorized under any other law. . . ." (Italics added.)

The italicized portion [*68]  of subdivision (f) provides that one of Sherman's subdivision (d) circumstances or two of Sherman's subdivision (e) circumstances must be used exclusively to bring him within the 25-year-to-life sentence provided required by section 667.61, subdivision (a). We are convinced this language evidences a legislative intent that a subdivision (d) or (e) circumstance is limited to a single use because it states the prior conviction "shall be used" to impose the section 667.61 term "rather than being used to impose the punishment authorized under any other law." 25 Because one of Sherman's circumstances--either the aggravated kidnapping or the burglary (subds. (d)(2) & (d)(4))--must be used to sentence him under section 667.61 "rather than" to impose other punishments, the use of the circumstance so employed is exhausted and cannot also be used to impose the punishment authorized under any other law, e.g. to sentence him for convictions for aggravated kidnapping (count 14) or burglary (count 16). 

25   The second sentence of subdivision (f) confirms this intent by providing that "if any additional circumstance or circumstances specified in subdivision (d) or (e) have been pled and proved, the minimum number of circumstances shall be used as the basis for imposing the term provided in subdivision (a), and any other additional circumstance or circumstances shall be used to impose any punishment or enhancement authorized under any other law." It would be superfluous to specify that only the minimum number of circumstances be used to warrant a section 667.61 sentence if use of that circumstance did not exhaust its impact on sentencing. We avoid construing statutory language in a manner that would render portions of it surplusage. (People v. Loeun (1997) 17 Cal.4th 1, 8-9, 947 P.2d 1313.)

 [*69]  Our construction of the interplay between section 667.61 and the propriety of imposing separate punishment for the same conduct is supported by People v. Mancebo, supra, 27 Cal.4th 735. In Mancebo, the same conduct--personal use of a firearm in committing the underlying offense--was found true as both a section 667.61, subdivision (e), circumstance and as an enhancing allegation ( § 12022.5, subd. (a)) appended to the felony offense. The trial court sentenced the defendant to 25 years to life based on an unpleaded section 667.61, subdivision (d) circumstance (i.e. the multiple victim circumstance), and then added 10 years for the section 12022.5, subdivision (a) weapons use enhancement, for a total term of 35 years to life. The Court of Appeal concluded that the unpleaded section 667.61, subdivision (d) circumstance could not be employed at all, leaving only the weapons use circumstance available to calculate the section 667.61 sentence, and that use of the weapons circumstance to calculate the section 667.61 sentence exhausted its availability and barred its use for imposing any additional punishment. (Mancebo, at pp. 740-741.) The Supreme Court agreed with [*70]  and affirmed the Court of Appeal's analysis and conclusion that employing the weapons use to elevate the sentence pursuant to section 667.61, subdivision (a) exhausted the weapons use conduct and precluded imposition of any additional punishment otherwise available for that conduct.

We conclude that under Mancebo it was error to impose a sentence on Sherman for his burglary conviction (count 16) because the same conduct was necessarily exhausted either as the single subdivision (d) circumstance or as one of the two subdivision (e) circumstances required to elevate the sentence on count 17 to 25 years to life. However, by elevating Sherman's section 667.61 sentence based on the burglary under subdivision (d) (or the burglary and multiple victims under subdivision (e)), and also imposing the life sentence for kidnapping (count 14), the sentence would adhere to Mancebo and remain consonant with the language of section 667.61, subdivision (f) that the minimum number of circumstances be exhausted to impose the term provided in subdivision (a) while using any other additional circumstance or circumstances to impose any punishment or enhancement authorized under any other law.

DISPOSITION

 [*71]  The abstract of judgment is ordered modified as follows: all references to counts 1, 9, 10, 12, 13, 18 and 19 are to be stricken from the list of convictions in box one of the abstract of judgment, and a note shall be appended to the abstract stating that, under the mandate of People v. Craig (1941) 17 Cal.2d 453, 110 P.2d 403, count 1 was stricken as consolidated with count 2, counts 9 and 10 were stricken as consolidated with count 8, counts 11 and 12 were stricken as consolidated with count 13, and counts 18 and 19 were stricken as consolidated with count 17. Defendant's conviction on count 7 is reversed because not supported by sufficient evidence. Defendant's conviction on count 15 is reversed because it is a lesser included offense of another count. Defendant's convictions on counts 4, 5 and 6 are reversed with directions that if the People do not bring defendant to trial within 60 days after the filing of the remittitur in the trial court, the trial court shall proceed as if the remittitur constituted a modification of the judgment to be convictions on counts 4, 5 and 6 of section 243.4, subdivision (d), a misdemeanor. The sentence imposed for defendant's conviction [*72]  on count 16 is stricken. In all other respects the judgment is affirmed. The matter is remanded to the trial court for further proceedings as set forth in this opinion, including resentencing.

McDONALD, J.

WE CONCUR:

KREMER, P. J.

BENKE, J.  

